January 2014 GEG Working Paper 2014/90

# The Distributional Consequences of International Finance:

An Analysis of Regulatory Influence

Ranjit Lall



# The Distributional Consequences of International Finance: An Analysis of Regulatory Influence

Ranjit Lall<sup>1</sup>

*Note: This paper is forthcoming in* Regulation & Governance *under the title "Timing as a Source of Regulatory Influence: A Technical Elite Network Analysis of Global Finance"* 

The Global Economic Governance Programme is directed by Ngaire Woods and has been made possible through the generous support of Old Members of University College. Its research projects are principally funded by the Ford Foundation (New York), the International Development Research Centre (Ottawa), and the MacArthur Foundation (Chicago).

Page 1 of 30 The Distributional Consequences of International Finance: An Analysis of Regulatory Influence – Ranjit Lall © January 2014 / GEG WP 2014/90

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Doctoral candidate in international political economy at Harvard University and pre-doctoral fellow at the Blavatnik School of Government and Global Economic Governance Programme at Oxford University. The author would like to thank Tim Büthe, Daniel Carpenter, Jeffry Frieden, Emily Jones, Rahul Prabhakar, and Ngaire Woods for helpful comments on earlier drafts.

#### Table of Contents

1. Introduction	3
2. Surveying the political science literature	4
3. Technical elite network theory	6
4. International capital adequacy standards	9
4.1. Basel II (1999-2004)	9
4.2. Basel III (2009-11): History repeats itself	12
5. Global financial reporting standards	15
5.1. Financial instruments	17
5.2. Share-based payment	18
5.3. Business combinations	19
6. Conclusion	21
Notes	23
References	25

#### 1. Introduction

The last three decades have witnessed a profound transformation in the regulation and supervision of financial institutions across the globe. As economic integration has deepened and the capacity of national governments to control financial activity within their borders has declined, the locus of regulation has gradually shifted from the domestic to the transnational level. At the same time, the increasingly evident limitations of public forms of financial regulation – in particular, the lack of sufficient technical expertise and material resources to deal with increasingly complex regulatory challenges – have led governments to delegate extensive regulatory authority to policy networks, private-sector organizations, and other nonstate regulatory bodies (Abbott & Snidal 2009; Büthe & Mattli 2011). In short, a distinct "transnational regulatory space" has emerged in the financial sphere – a space that has been fiercely contested by a diverse range of public and private actors (Cafaggi & Pistor 2013).

Given the significance of these developments, it is surprising that scholars in the fields of political science, law, sociology, and economics have not sought to gain a deeper understanding of *how* and *to whose benefit* the transnational regulatory space in finance has been divided. That is, they have paid relatively little attention to questions concerning the distribution of benefits and burdens in global financial regulation, such as: Who are the key public and private stakeholders involved in the development of international financial rules? What are the preferences of these actors and what types of lobbying strategies do they employ to secure their favored rules? What are the most important factors determining success in achieving desired distributional outcomes? Are the distributional effects of transnational rules equitable or are there winners and losers?

In this study, I seek to shed light on these issues by conducting a microfoundational empirical analysis of two transnational regulatory regimes that are central to the efficiency and stability of the global financial system. The first is the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS), a group of central bankers and financial supervisors that formulates international capital adequacy standards for banks. I examine the interests, lobbying strategies, and bargaining power of key private stakeholders in two major rounds of BCBS negotiations: the Basel II accord (1999-2004) and the Basel III accord (2009-2011). In particular, I focus on the intense distributional battles waged within the banking sector between large internationally-active banks from developed nations, smaller regional lenders in these countries, and emerging-market financial institutions. The second regime I analyze is the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), a private-sector organization that sets financial reporting standards for companies around the world. Here, my analysis centers on the conflicts fought between global accountancy firms based in Anglo-Saxon countries – in particular, the so-called "Big Six" and subsequently "Big Four" firms – and businesses, investors, and regulatory authorities in continental Europe and elsewhere.

I develop an analytical framework that accounts for the widely varying levels of regulatory influence enjoyed by these stakeholders. This framework, which I call *technical elite network* (TEN) theory, draws attention to how issue-specific characteristics of global finance – in particular, its highly technical and complex nature – shape the distributional consequences of transnational regulatory processes. It emphasizes two mechanisms by which such characteristics influence distributional outcomes. First, they affect which stakeholders have

access to regulatory officials' informal social networks (ISNs) – networks that play a crucial role in determining who claims first-mover position and thus sets the agenda in global financial rulemaking. Second, they give rise to distinctive increasing returns processes that serve to reinforce and entrench proposals made at an early stage of rulemaking, guaranteeing that first movers exert an enduring influence over the content of international standards. TEN theory offers a powerful yet parsimonious explanation for distributional outcomes in the BCBS and IASB. An in-depth examination of the conflicts waged within these regulatory regimes provides strong support for the theory's predictions and causal mechanisms while at the same time casting doubt on alternative explanations, in particular those drawing on realist and neo-Marxist theory in international relations (IR).

The study is organized as follows. Section 2 reviews existing attempts to explain distributional outcomes in global finance. Section 3 sets out TEN theory in greater detail. Sections 4 and 5 assess the empirical evidence for the framework vis-à-vis alternative theories in the areas of capital adequacy and financial reporting, respectively. Section 6 concludes by reflecting on the implications of the analysis for designing regulatory regimes in global finance that respond to the interests of – and ensure an equitable distribution of regulatory capabilities among – a broad range of stakeholders.

#### 2. Surveying the political science literature

The few existing attempts to explain distributional outcomes in global finance can be grouped into three broad approaches. Perhaps the most influential approach takes inspiration from the realist tradition in IR. Simmons (2001) emphasizes the role of the world's dominant financial center – the United States (US) – in determining whether and how financial regulatory harmonization occurs. The size of its internal financial market, Simmons argues, gives the US both the incentive and means to unilaterally impose its regulatory preferences on other countries. More recently, Drezner (2007) has argued that transnational rules in finance (and elsewhere) principally reflect the preferences of the "great powers" in the global economy, in particular the US and the European Union (EU). Similarly to Simmons, Drezner argues that it is the prospect of access to these actors' sizeable internal markets – together with the threat of economic coercion – that induces weaker states into accepting their domestic regulatory status quo at the transnational level.

A second approach to analyzing distributional outcomes, which challenges the realist assumption that states are the key actors forging global financial rules, comes from the neo-Marxist school of IR. Neo-Marxists draw attention to the distributional conflicts fought among distinct (subnational or transnational) classes of societal actors with shared economic interests. In particular, they focus on conflicts between holders of mobile financial capital, such as large international banks, and domestically-oriented firms and industries. One variant of the neo-Marxist approach posits that capital holders extract regulatory concessions by exploiting their "structural power" – that is, their ability to relocate or scale down investments (Perry & Nölke 2006; Underhill & Zhang 2008). Another variant points to their success in promoting neoliberal ideology – with its self-serving emphasis on privatization, free markets, and deregulation – within the regulatory community (Soederberg 2004).

A third and particularly promising approach draws on the historical institutionalist tradition in comparative politics. This approach conceptualizes financial rulemaking as an incremental process that unfolds over time, and posits that the timing and sequencing of events and actions in this process plays a crucial role in determining winners and losers (Farrell & Newman 2010; Fioretos 2010; Posner 2010; also see Farrell & Newman forthcoming). Although enhancing our understanding of the temporal dimensions of transnational regulatory processes, it has yet to offer a fully-fledged framework for analyzing the distributional effects of global financial rules. A partial exception is Bach and Newman's (2007) analysis of how the sequence in which jurisdictions build "regulatory capacity" - that is, the ability to "formulate, monitor, and enforce a set of market rules" (p.831) – affects their relative influence over international standards. Another exception, which draws more explicitly on historical institutionalist reasoning, is Büthe and Mattli's (2011) institutional complementarity theory (ICT). ICT posits that stakeholders in countries with "fragmented" regulatory systems characterized by competition among multiple standard-setters are less successful in influencing global rules than actors in nations with "hierarchical" systems (in part) because they become involved in international standardization projects at a later stage.



Figure 1. Causal processes and predictions of different theoretical approaches

Naturally, we can only assess the validity of these three approaches on the basis of concrete empirical evidence. Testing the approaches against one another, however, is not a straightforward task. In some cases, they generate almost identical predictions about distributional outcomes. As discussed in Section 4, for instance, both neo-Marxist and historical institutionalist theories may lead us to expect that large international firms will be

the principal beneficiaries of global financial rules. To discriminate between different theories predicting the same outcome, empirical tests must focus on the implied *causal processes* leading to that outcome (George & Bennett 2005, pp.217-20). Other things equal, the theory whose posited causal process exhibits the closest fit with observed developments has the strongest *prima facie* claim to validity. Process-related tests among competing approaches are thus an essential means of establishing robust causal inferences about the factors determining distributional outcomes in global finance. Figure 1 provides a diagrammatic representation of the causal processes implied by the three approaches.

#### 3. Technical elite network theory

Rulemaking in global finance is a multiphase process.<sup>1</sup> International standards are not adopted during a single meeting between regulatory officials; instead, they are developed over a number of distinct stages, typically including an agenda-setting stage, a planning or preparatory stage, a discussion paper stage, a consultation stage, and an approval stage. Collectively, these stages may last years or even decades. Not all stakeholders become involved in this protracted process at the same stage: while some actors influence rules as early as the agenda-setting or planning stage, others are largely absent from regulatory negotiations until the consultation or approval stage.

TEN theory accepts a central insight of the historical institutionalist approach, namely, that stakeholders who become involved in global financial rulemaking at an early stage tend to enjoy greater influence over international standards than stakeholders arriving later. Unlike existing historical institutionalist theories, however, it posits that the key *causes* and *distributional consequences* of timely involvement derive from issue-specific characteristics of international finance. The most important of these characteristics is the domain's high – and ever increasing – level of technical complexity (Porter 2003, forthcoming).

Technical complexity affects the causes of timely involvement by influencing which stakeholders have access to regulators' ISNs – a critical determinant of first-mover advantage in global financial regulation. ISNs can be defined as patterns of repeated, enduring social relations among core formal rule makers and (some small subset of) industry actors involving the exchange of information, expertise, and other material and nonmaterial resources. Unlike the well-known "transnational regulatory networks" described by scholars such as Raustiala (2002) and Slaughter (2004), ISNs include stakeholders as well as employees of regulatory agencies. Yet as the above definition implies, not all stakeholders enjoy access to ISNs: only the select few who maintain close personal relationships with officials and regularly interact with them outside formal regulatory negotiations can be classified as "members."

The technical nature of global finance influences access to ISNs by creating incentives for officials to interact more frequently with stakeholders who possess a high degree of specialized knowledge. Importantly, the distribution of such expertise is heavily asymmetric: only a handful of stakeholders – namely, individuals with extensive first-hand knowledge of global markets garnered from years of professional experience at the helm of the world's largest financial institutions – possess the technical know-how to contribute to the development of international financial standards. Many of these individuals possess a level

of expertise exceeding even that of officials (Griffith-Jones & Persaud 2008). Consequently, regulatory bodies frequently recruit from the ranks of the largest financial firms and rely on the assistance of their most senior experts to write rules that are operationally viable.

How does access to ISNs enable stakeholders to shape regulatory proposals at an early stage? First, ISNs provide stakeholders with timely and high-quality information about the international regulatory agenda, which enables them to contribute to new standardization initiatives before others even become aware of them. Second, in part due to their expertise, members of ISNs are more likely to be delegated important functions in the early development of rules, including participating in advisory panels assessing the merits of new standards at the agenda-setting stage; providing technical advice and administrative support to rulemaking bodies through secondments, internships, and other temporary staff transfers; and conducting feasibility studies or cost-benefit analyses of prospective standards at the planning or discussion paper stage. As noted earlier, regulators often depend on the expertise provided by ISN members to develop rules that make operational sense. Finally, membership provides opportunities for stakeholders to use their first-hand knowledge of global financial markets to draw officials' attention to deficiencies or gaps in existing rules and suggest ways of remedying such problems that reflect their regulatory preferences. In doing so, they are able to set the regulatory agenda by putting forward new proposals rather than merely influencing the content of existing ones.

The incorporation of ISNs into the analysis of first-mover advantage gives TEN theory two advantages over existing historical institutionalist theories. First, it renders the theory more generalizable both *within* and *outside* global finance. Büthe and Mattli's ICT, for instance, only applies under a limited set of conditions, namely, when there is (1) variation in the fragmentation of domestic standard-setting bodies across countries and (2) a single, uncontested (or "focal") regulator at the global level. These conditions are not always satisfied, even within global finance. In areas such as securities regulation, for instance, there is little fragmentation at the domestic level; in areas such as hedge fund regulation, meanwhile, there is no focal global rule maker. In contrast, ISNs can be found in almost all issue areas in which (1) a high level of technical expertise is required to formulate global rules and (2) such expertise is concentrated in a small number of stakeholders. This includes most domains of global finance, in addition to nonfinancial issue areas as diverse as chemicals, pharmaceuticals, information technology, and insurance.

The second advantage of integrating ISNs into the analysis is that it enables us to account for *intra-societal* differences in regulatory influence at the transnational level. Both ICT and Bach and Newman's analysis imply that divisions between first movers and second movers necessarily occur along national lines. Yet as cases such as international banking regulation illustrate, there is often substantial variation in the point at which stakeholders from the same country become involved in the transnational regulatory process (see Section 4). By drawing attention to ISNs – which straddle national borders and include only a small fraction of stakeholders in any given country – TEN theory helps to explain such variation. Indeed, insofar as it accommodates conflict between transnational groups of nonstate actors, the theory has affinities with the neo-Marxist approach. Unlike this approach, however, it rejects the notion that either structural power or the ability to disseminate self-serving economic ideas is a sufficient condition for influencing global rules. Without the temporal advantage provided by membership in ISNs, it suggests, such resources will count for little.

Page 7 of 30 The Distributional Consequences of International Finance: An Analysis of Regulatory Influence – Ranjit Lall © January 2014 / GEG WP 2014/90 Issue-specific characteristics of international finance shed light not only on the causes but also the distributional consequences of timely involvement. That is, they help us to understand *why* stakeholders who secure first-mover position tend to enjoy greater regulatory influence than latecomers – an issue that has been surprisingly overlooked by existing historical institutionalist theories of global finance. I posit that such characteristics give rise to distinctive increasing returns processes that render proposals made by first movers progressively more difficult to change as they move through the stages of global financial rulemaking (Pierson 2000; Pierson & Skocpol 2002). Specifically, I highlight two processes by which rules proposed at an early stage tend to reinforce and perpetuate themselves, each arising from a different characteristic of international finance.

The first process is rooted in the large set-up (or fixed) costs involved in formulating standards, a consequence of the technical nature of global finance.<sup>2</sup> Developing an item on the standardization agenda into a preliminary working draft or discussion paper – detailed documents that frequently run into hundreds of pages – requires extensive research, planning, deliberation, and drafting on the part of rule makers. The sheer size of this initial investment in terms of financial resources, organizational capacity, and time renders the cost of abandoning an existing regulatory proposal prohibitively high. Exit may be rendered even more difficult by the fact that, as mentioned earlier, many of the technical experts delegated the task of developing the proposal are themselves private actors who actively lobbied for it be considered in the first place. The combination of high sunk costs and political pressure from "within" ensures that regulatory bodies in global finance tend to strongly oppose discarding provisions at an advanced stage of the standard-setting process.

The second process by which early regulatory proposals become entrenched follows from the nongovernmental character of regulatory organizations in international finance. In intergovernmental regimes, rules may be blocked by states during the latter stages of the regulatory process if they are believed to adversely affect some group of domestic constituents.<sup>3</sup> Governments are directly accountable for failing to protect domestic stakeholders, creating strong incentives for them to ensure that international rules are acceptable to a broad range of societal interests (Putnam 1988). Nonstate regulatory bodies, on the other hand, have no formal accountability to the citizens of countries under their jurisdiction. Since officials cannot be sanctioned for failing to defend the interests of particular domestic groups, they have little reason to block provisions on public interest grounds during the final stages of the regulatory process. The upshot is that rules proposed at an early point in negotiations – rules in which regulatory experts subsequently invest substantial resources – have a high likelihood of being eventually adopted.

To summarize, TEN theory offers two distinctive propositions about the determinants of regulatory influence in international finance. First, stakeholders who enjoy access to regulators' exclusive ISNs – that is, stakeholders who possess high levels of specialized knowledge – are likely to secure first-mover position and hence set the agenda in global financial rulemaking. Second, owing to a dynamic of increasing returns, proposals made at an early stage of rulemaking tend to become entrenched in self-reinforcing ways, preventing second movers from altering them at later stages and hence ensuring that first movers have an abiding influence over international standards.

#### 4. International capital adequacy standards

In this section, I assess the empirical support for TEN theory by examining the case of international capital adequacy standards.<sup>4</sup> During the past quarter-century, capital adequacy standards have emerged as the principal form of prudential regulation for financial institutions. These rules stipulate the minimum level of regulatory capital – a mixture of shareholders' equity, disclosed and undisclosed reserves, loan-loss provisions, and other financial instruments – that banks are required to maintain as a proportion of their total risk-weighted assets. The rationale for regulatory capital is to provide a "buffer" against unexpected losses incurred by banks. By reducing the risk that such institutions will become insolvent during periods of low or negative earnings, they play a key role in maintaining a stable supply of credit and payment services to the real economy.

At the same time, capital requirements have a significant impact on the distribution of wealth both *among* banks and *between* the financial sector and the real economy (Cafaggi & Pistor 2013). Since capital is a more expensive source of financing than debt – largely due to tax advantages and implicit government guarantees for the latter – banks view capital adequacy standards as a form of "regulatory taxation." By lowering capital levels, banks can reduce funding costs, increase leverage, and boost their return on equity. Institutions with sizeable asset portfolios can save billions of dollars through a tiny percentage reduction in capital requirements, gaining a major competitive advantage over rivals. In this section, I show how large international banks succeeded in systematically weakening the provisions of Basel II and Basel III to minimize their required levels of capital, with adverse competitive implications for both smaller rivals and financial institutions in the developing world.

Throughout the section, I attempt to evaluate TEN theory against the alternative analytical approaches discussed earlier. Since process-related tests are critical to assessing the validity of these competing approaches (see Section 2), I employ the technique of process-tracing. An in-depth examination of original BCBS documents, press releases, interview transcripts, and other primary and secondary sources provides the ideal method for investigating whether "the observed processes among variables in a case match those predicted or implied by [a] theory" (George & Bennett 2005, p.217).

#### 4.1. Basel II (1999-2004)

Basel II was the successor accord to Basel I, the first international framework for capital regulation, which was agreed in 1988. Basel I set minimum capital standards based on two ratios: a ratio of Core Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of 2 percent; and a ratio of Tier 1 plus Tier 2 capital to risk-weighted assets of 8 percent (BCBS 1988).<sup>5</sup> Assets were risk-weighted according to the credit risk of the borrower – that is, the risk of the borrower defaulting – which was predetermined by the BCBS.

In September 1998, partly in response to the Asian financial crisis, the BCBS decided to replace Basel I with a more stringent set of rules: Basel II. The most important innovation in Basel II was the inclusion of an "advanced internal ratings-based" (A-IRB) approach under which large banks would be able to use their own models to estimate various aspects of credit risk. Banks lacking the resources to develop internal models would adopt the

Page 9 of 30 The Distributional Consequences of International Finance: An Analysis of Regulatory Influence – Ranjit Lall © January 2014 / GEG WP 2014/90 "standardized" approach, which linked credit risk to external ratings issued by credit rating agencies. Crucially, internal ratings would give large banks a major competitive advantage over smaller rivals. One impact study conducted by the BCBS, for example, showed that A-IRB banks would experience a capital reduction of up to 26.7 percent, while banks adopting the standardized approach would see a 1.7 percent *increase* (BCBS 2006, p.2). A 2006 survey by Ernst & Young, meanwhile, found that 75 percent of banks believed that Basel II would benefit the largest banks employing advanced risk modeling systems at the expense of institutions unable to adopt them (Thal Larsen 2006).

What explains Basel II's remarkably inequitable distributional effects? The realist approach fails to provide a satisfactory explanation (Wood 2005). Contrary to its expectations, Basel II did not reflect the preferences of any specific country represented on the BCBS; rather, it promoted the interests of large international banks irrespective of their national origin. Indeed, even in the US – viewed by realists as the dominant member of the BCBS – legislators complained that Basel II undermined national interests by jeopardizing the viability of small banks (Chaffin & Pretzlik 2003). The neo-Marxist approach correctly predicts the accord's winners and losers. Yet evidence for neo-Marxism's posited causal mechanisms – the strategic deployment of structural power and neoliberal ideology – is sparse. By the early 2000s, Basel I had been implemented in more than 100 countries almost all of which intended to adopt Basel II - rendering threats to relocate to unregulated jurisdictions non-credible. As discussed later, large banks sought to promote their preferred rules not through the use of exit threats but by appealing to the benefits of a more "competitive" financial sector. Moreover, the Asian financial crisis, which was widely perceived to have been exacerbated by financial deregulation, had raised strong doubts about neoliberal policies in regulatory circles - doubts cited by the BCBS as a key motivation for strengthening Basel I (BCBS 1999, p.4). Indeed, some scholars have gone as far as to call the crisis "the last gasp of neoliberalism as a coherent ideology" (Braithwaite 2005, p.5).

A more compelling explanation for Basel II's bias toward large international banks is the timely participation of these institutions in the regulatory process, an advantage derived from access to the BCBS's ISN. Particularly close to regulators was the Institute of International Finance (IIF), a powerful Washington-based lobby group representing the world's largest and most technically sophisticated banks. The longest-serving chairman of the BCBS, the Bank of England's Peter Cooke (1977-88), was himself a co-founder of the IIF.<sup>6</sup> The BCBS chairman in the mid-1990s, the Bank of Italy's Tommaso Padoa-Schioppa, was a close associate of IIF managing director Charles Dallara. After meeting at a social occasion in March 1995, the two agreed to establish an "informal discussion" on regulatory issues under "ground rules" of strict confidentiality.<sup>7</sup> Links with large banks became even stronger under the chairmanship of William McDonough (1998-2003), a head of the New York Federal Reserve who presided over most of the BCBS's work on Basel II. Another close friend of Dallara's from his 22-year career in the banking industry, McDonough gave the IIF access to the BCBS from the earliest stages of negotiations for Basel II.<sup>8</sup> Before negotiations had even begun, the IIF had established a new body - the Steering Committee on Regulatory Capital (SRC) - specifically to advise the BCBS on the forthcoming accord.

Access to the BCBS's ISN enabled the IIF to place internal ratings on the agenda for Basel II well before other stakeholders became involved in negotiations. As early as November 1997, the IIF was pressing the BCBS for greater recognition of internal risk measurement systems

### The Global Economic Governance Programme University of Oxford

on the grounds that they were more "risk-sensitive" than Basel I's fixed weights (IIF 1997). As a result, the 1999 first draft of Basel II discussed the possibility of an A-IRB approach for "some sophisticated banks," though only a few paragraphs were devoted to the idea (BCBS 1999, p.37). The IIF's lobbying efforts intensified in early 2000 with the publication of a technical report emphasizing the robustness of internal credit risk models, as well as their effectiveness in maximizing shareholder value (IIF & ISDA 2000). IIF chairman Sir John Bond publicly called for the recognition of internal ratings in order to "[enhance] the competitiveness of banks by bringing individual banks' capital requirements more in line with actual risks" (Ibison 2000). These efforts soon paid dividends: in mid-2000, the BCBS's working group on credit risk began informal work with the IIF to fully incorporate internal ratings into Basel II.<sup>9</sup> The 139-page second draft accord contained a detailed exposition of the A-IRB approach, which was enthusiastically welcomed by the SRC as one of seven areas in which its recommendations had already been adopted (IIF 2001, p.6).

Other stakeholders only became aware of these developments following the release of the second draft accord in 2001, by which time the BCBS had already invested considerable time and resources in developing the A-IRB approach. The few comments on the draft submitted by small banks reflected serious apprehension about its distributional implications. For instance, America's Community Bankers (ACB), an association of US community banks, protested that the accord would "benefit only the most complex and internationally active banks, saddling the vast majority of financial institutions in the US with a cumbersome and expensive capital regulatory scheme" (ACB 2001, p.2). Developing countries expressed similar fears, with the Banking Council of South Africa (BCSA) objecting that "bigger, more advanced banks may have access to options that will give them a market advantage, whereas the smaller banks may find it difficult to afford the necessary infrastructure investments" (BCSA 2001, p.4). These objections, however, came too late: by 2001, the costs of discarding years' worth of technical work on the A-IRB approach were prohibitively high. Indeed, when a group of five major developing countries protested about the accord's competitive implications at a BCBS meeting in 2002, it was accused by McDonough of attempting to "derail the whole process."<sup>10</sup> In the end, few changes were made to credit risk approaches between the release of second draft and the publication of the accord in 2004.

Other key parts of Basel II, such as the capital charge covering market risk, tell a similar story.<sup>11</sup> Since 1993, the IIF had lobbied the BCBS to allow banks to calibrate market risk using complex mathematical models that produced estimates of "value-at-risk" (VaR) (IIF 1993).<sup>12</sup> Although reluctant at first to consider the use of VaR models, the BCBS began to consider the proposal following the establishment of an informal dialogue with the IIF in early 1995 (see above). Just months later, after intensive technical work with IIF staff, the BCBS published a new 55-page market risk framework fully recognizing the use of VaR models (BCBS 1995). Within a few years, however, the limitations of VaR models were becoming increasingly clear. Indeed, at the very time the BCBS was formulating the first draft of Basel II in early 1999, banks were reporting major losses on Russian government bonds that were entirely unanticipated by their VaR models. Bankers Trust, an American wholesale bank, reported that on five days in the latest quarter trading losses had exceeded its one-day 99 per cent VaR calculation, a figure that statistically should be exceeded on just one day in 100 (Graham 1999). Even more damningly, a report published by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) in December 1998 had condemned VaR models for paying "insufficient attention"

to extreme market events (IMF 1998, p.16). Yet despite such criticism, the BCBS refused to abandon the original market risk charge – a provision in which it had previously invested substantial resources – during negotiations for Basel II.

#### 4.2. Basel III (2009-11): History repeats itself

Following the global financial crisis, a consensus emerged in the regulatory community that the basic tenets of Basel II – namely, reliance on internal models and capital relief for the largest banks – had been fundamentally discredited. Growing pressure to revise the accord culminated in the G20's demands at the Pittsburgh Summit in September 2009 for the BCBS to formulate a new set of capital adequacy rules that would form the centerpiece of an "international framework of reform" (G20 2009b, p.8). The BCBS duly complied, releasing a set of preliminary proposals in December that soon became known as "Basel III" (BCBS 2009). Despite the immense political will behind the reform effort, however, large international banks once again managed to seize control of the Basel process. By skewing the provisions of the new accord in their favor, they decisively closed the window of opportunity for far-reaching reform, leaving the global banking system little safer than before the crisis. Why did history repeat itself?

Neither realist nor neo-Marxist approaches provide a persuasive answer. As before, realist theories fail to account for the fact that distributional outcomes primarily reflected the preferences of a transnational group of nonstate actors rather than any particular country within the BCBS. Neo-Marxist theories, meanwhile, fail to correctly identify the mechanism by which these actors shaped global rules. The commitment by more than 100 countries to adopt Basel III in the coming years - together with the extension of BCBS membership to all G20 countries in March 2009 - rendered threats to leave regulated jurisdictions as noncredible as before the crisis. Indeed, while large international banks have occasionally employed exit threats to avert domestic surcharges on Basel III, there are no recorded instances of these institutions leveraging structural power to influence the accord itself (see Beattie et al. 2010). Furthermore, like its predecessor, Basel III was prompted by an international crisis that was widely blamed on the pursuit of neoliberal policies such as financial deregulation (see BCBS 2009, pp.1-3). Similarly to other global regulatory initiatives in the wake of the crisis, therefore, the accord sought an "unambiguous departure" from the "neoliberal ideals of market deregulation, decentralization, and reduced state intervention" (Nesvetailova & Palan 2010, p.823).

A closer analysis of the regulatory process reveals that timely involvement played a crucial role in large banks' success in influencing Basel III. In line with TEN theory's expectations, informal social links with BCBS deriving from the exchange of personnel with high levels of technical expertise were a key source of first-mover advantage. A prominent member of the BCBS during the drafting of Basel III, the New York Federal Reserve's Marc Saidenberg, was head of regulatory policy at Merrill Lynch and a member of the IIF Committee on Market Best Practices until 2008. As recently as October 2007, the month Merrill Lynch announced a record \$7.9bn loss, Saidenberg was lobbying regulators to "avoid a knee-jerk reaction to recent events" (Callan *et al.* 2007). Ex-members of the BCBS, meanwhile, moved in the opposite direction. During negotiations for Basel III, Roger Ferguson, formerly of the Federal Reserve's Board of Governors, sat on the IIF's board of directors; Darryll Hendricks, formerly

of Federal Reserve Bank of New York, chaired the IIF Working Group on Valuation; and Patricia Jackson, formerly of the Bank of England, chaired the IIF Working Group on Ratings. In perhaps its greatest coup, the IIF managed to recruit Jacques de Larosière, a former governor of the French central bank and author of a widely read European Commission report on the lessons of the crisis for European financial regulation, to head its Market Monitoring Group (see De Larosière Group 2009).

Provision	Accord	Preference of first movers (large international banks)	Preference of second movers	Final rule
Internal Ratings	Basel II (1999- 2004)	Recognize internal credit risk models used by large banks	Maintain fixed asset risk weights for all financial institutions	Recognition of internal ratings for large banks
Market risk	Basel II	Recognize internal VaR models for calibrating market risk	Prohibit the use of VaR models since they underestimate "extreme" market events	Recognition of VaR models in 1996 (and retention in Basel II)
Total minimum capital ratio	Basel III (2009- 2011)	Keep new minimum capital ratio low to avoid undermining economic recovery	Significantly raise total capital requirements	Minimum ratio increased from 2 percent to 4.5 percent
Capital surcharge for systemic institutions	Basel III	Keep surcharge low; ensure that it is nonbinding	Impose binding surcharge on large financial institutions	Surcharge made nonbinding; set between 1.5 percent to 3 percent

Table 1. Regulatory preferences and distributional outcomes in the BCBS

Access to the BCBS's ISN enabled large international banks to enter negotiations at the crucial agenda-setting stage, guaranteeing them an enduring influence over the shape of the accord. Perhaps the clearest example of this influence can be found in Basel III's overall minimum capital ratio. Within months of the release of the December 2009 reform proposals, major banks were already releasing alarmist estimates of the economic damage that increased capital levels would entail (see JP Morgan 2010). According to the most widely cited estimate, produced by the IIF in a June 2010 report, a 2 percent increase in capital requirements would cut cumulative economic output by 3.1 percent in the Eurozone, the US,

and Japan by 2015, wiping out nine million jobs (IIF 2010). Although this calculation was not confirmed by independent analysis – the BCBS's own impact study suggested that output would fall by just 0.38 percent – regulators responded by rejecting a significant increase in capital levels (BCBS & FSB 2010).<sup>13</sup> With amended definitions of capital, the minimum Core Tier 1 ratio would rise from 2 percent to 4.5 percent, less than half of the equivalent ratio maintained by large banks before the crisis (BCBS 2010b).<sup>14</sup> Economists at the Bank of England later admitted that a "huge mistake was made in letting banks come to have much less equity funding…than was normal in earlier times" (Miles *et al* 2011, p.37). Despite these regrets, the BCBS refused to invest any further resources in the calibration of minimum capital requirements under Basel III.

While the BCBS sought to raise minimum standards, it did not question Basel II's modelbased approach to risk weighting – an approach that enabled large banks to significantly understate their true exposure to credit risk the run-up to the crisis (Admati & Hellwig 2013, p.177). It is no coincidence that in July 2009 – months before reforms began to take shape – the IIF released a report demanding that any changes to capital standards be made "within the framework of the Basel II risk-based approach" (IIF 2009, p.26) Opposition to the continued use of internal ratings came too late to count. In its April 2010 comments on the reform proposals, the World Council of Credit Unions (WOCCU), an organization representing 54,000 credit unions, argued that "less reliance on the internal ratings-based approaches" was needed to avoid future bailouts of major banks (WOCCU 2010, p.3). The Independent Community Bankers of America (ICBA), an association representing 5,000 community banks, took an even stronger line, arguing that large banks "should be subject to a more rigorous set of leverage and risk-based capital requirements than other institutions and that are not determined by the institutions themselves based on internal risk-ratings formulas" (ICBA 2010, p.3). By the time the BCBS received these comments, however, it could scarcely afford to overhaul its reform package - a document that had consumed several months of technical work and contained more than 120 pages of detailed provisions.<sup>15</sup>

Nor did other key provisions of Basel III, such as the proposed capital surcharge on systematically important banks, escape the timely influence of large banks. As usual, the IIF was first to voice its concerns about the surcharge, warning on the eve of the Pittsburgh Summit against "setting up artificial categories of systemic firms" and stressing that any measures to address systemic risk should be nonbinding (IIF 2009, p.5). Unsurprisingly, the banking industry was not united in its opposition to the measure: smaller banks, seeking to neutralize the capital advantage enjoyed by A-IRB banks, strongly supported a binding surcharge for large banks. WOCCU, for instance, argued that the interconnectedness of A-IRB banks "demands higher, not lower, capital requirements for large financial institutions, as the current calibration of Basel II suggests" (WOCCU 2010, p.2). Yet before such banks had even registered their support a binding surcharge - the end of the comment period in April 2010 – the BCBS had already spent months developing approaches for incorporating it as a nonbinding measure.<sup>16</sup> Fears that the surcharge would be nonbinding were confirmed in July, when the BCBS announced that it would require a "guided discretion" approach to setting capital requirements for systemic institutions (BCBS 2010a, p.5). The calibration of the measure proved equally favorable to large banks: despite suggestions by Federal

Reserve economists that the surcharge should constitute up to 7 percent of risk-weighted assets, in June 2011 the BCBS set it within a range of just 1.5-3 percent (BCBS 2011).

#### 5. Global financial reporting standards

The second test case for TEN theory is the IASB, the transnational regulatory regime responsible for developing financial reporting standards for companies across the globe. Financial reporting standards specify how assets, liabilities, income, expenses, and other transactions and events should be defined and recorded in corporate financial statements. These standards create financial statements that contain comprehensive, transparent, and comparable information about companies' financial positions. In doing so, they facilitate investment and trade as well as shaping business incentives in areas as diverse as executive compensation, corporate financing, mergers and acquisitions, and research and development. In short, they "affect all sectors of the economy and are central to the stability of a country's financial system" (Büthe & Mattli 2011, p.1).

Naturally, the harmonization of financial reporting standards has yielded considerable economic benefits for firms and investors around the world. These benefits, however, have not been distributed evenly. Auditing firms in Anglo-Saxon countries have consistently succeeded in ensuring that global standards reflect the emphasis of their domestic accounting systems on measuring transactions at "fair value" – that is, current market prices. The global regulatory shift toward fair value accounting has, in turn, provided these firms with lucrative opportunities to expand their market share in regions that had previously recorded most transactions at historical cost, such as continental Europe.<sup>17</sup> By contrast, firms in the latter regions, whose national accounting standards diverge from those adopted by the IASB, have been forced to pay considerable "switching costs" in order to comply with global rules. In addition to learning how to interpret information reported under the new rules, they have had to invest large sums overhauling their accounting systems and recalibrating lending agreements, compensation schemes, and investment plans. In short, the global harmonization of accounting standards has created clear winners and losers.

What explains these uneven distributional effects? Realists emphasize the magnitude of Anglo-Saxon nations' capital markets, which has enabled them to pressure access-seeking foreign firms into adopting their domestic standards (Simmons 2001). Yet in terms of size, capital markets in Anglo-Saxon countries have been matched – and on some measures *exceeded* – by those in continental Europe for several years.<sup>18</sup> Neo-Marxists would highlight the structural and ideological influence wielded by global auditing firms based in Anglo-Saxon countries. While more promising, however, this explanation has major shortcomings. First, since auditors provide (substitutable) services rather than investing or lending, they can inflict only limited economic damage on governments that refuse to adopt their favored rules. Second, even if exit threats were effective at the national level, they would not be credible at the global level: as of 2010, more than 120 countries had adopted the IASB's International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Finally, neoliberalism does not have clear implications for the debate between fair value and historical cost accounting. As discussed shortly, Anglo-Saxon firms' strategy for influencing IFRS relied less on indoctrinating the IASB with a particular economic philosophy than convincing it to delegate

key tasks to them at the crucial agenda-setting and planning stages of the standardization process.

As this suggests, a more persuasive explanation for the distributional effects of global accounting standards lies in the ability of Anglo-Saxon auditors to consistently secure firstmover position in IASB negotiations. The source of this advantage can be traced back to the very first incarnation of the IASB, the Accountants International Study Group (AISG), a forum of British, American, and Canadian standard-setters established in 1966 to examine differences between national accounting rules. Since rulemaking had traditionally been delegated to the accountancy profession in Anglo-Saxon countries, the AISG was mostly comprised of professional auditors. In 1973, the AISG invited standard-setters from six other countries to join it in establishing the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) - the IASB's predecessor - which explicitly aimed to develop global standards. Despite its enlarged membership, the IASC was equally dominated by Anglo-Saxon firms, in particular the Big Six of Arthur Andersen, Coopers & Lybrand, Deloitte & Touche, Ernst & Young, Peat Marwick Mitchell, and Price Waterhouse. No less than eight of the IASC's 12 chairmen were partners in one of the Big Six. In addition, "[t]he greater part of the IASC's experts that took part in the steering committees and on the IASC's staff as project managers had their ordinary employment at one of the six major accounting firms" (Hallström 2004, p.92).

The influence of major accountancy firms in the IASC expanded yet further in 1993 with the establishment of the Group of Four plus One (G4+1), a forum for discussing major standardization projects comprising standard-setters from Australia, Canada, the UK, and the US (plus an observer from the IASC). Between 1994 and 2000, the G4+1 evolved from "think tank" to "embryonic standard-setter," publishing 12 papers – many of which resembled fully-fledged standards – that guided the IASC's work on a variety of complex accounting topics (Street 2006, p.116). As we will see in the following subsections, these papers also played a crucial role in the development of IFRS.

Following the IASC's decision to restructure itself in 1998 - a move aimed at enhancing its ability to develop high-quality global standards – G4+1 standard-setters exploited their collective bargaining power to ensure that members of the new regime would be selected solely on the basis of technical accounting expertise, an asset highly concentrated in Anglo-Saxon auditing firms. Consequently, no fewer than eight of the IASB's 14 original members had been previously employed by one of the Big Six – a majority large enough to approve the adoption of a global standard under the board's new constitution. Four of these eight members had also participated in G4+1 meetings, including the group's first chairman Sir David Tweedie, a former KPMG partner and head of the British Accounting Standards Board (ASB), who served as chairman of the IASB from its establishment in April 2001 until June 2011. Accountancy firms were also strongly represented in the IASB's auxiliary bodies. All of the Big Four auditors that have dominated global accounting since the early 2000s -Deloitte, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), Ernst & Young, and KMPG - were members of both the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), which issues authoritative guidance on conflicting interpretations of IFRS, and Standards Advisory Council (SAC), the IASB's advisory body.<sup>19</sup>

The concentration of technical expertise in Anglo-Saxon auditors has opened up several avenues for informal interaction between these firms and the IASB. Board members hold

regular off-the-record consultations with the firms' specialized IFRS teams, using them as a "sounding board" for new projects.<sup>20</sup> After projects are approved, these teams are often delegated the further task of drafting, editing, and proofreading the text of discussion papers and IFRS. Anglo-Saxon auditors also form the core of the "Expert Advisory Panels" frequently convened by the IASB to assess whether additional regulatory guidance is needed in a given area of accounting.<sup>21</sup> Perhaps most importantly, these firms provide a large proportion of the IASB's technical staff through an institutionalized secondment system. Under this system, firms pay for senior managers to work at the IASB as "Practice Fellows" for a period of 1-2 years. Although nominally independent, secondees have strong incentives to promote their employers' preferences in IASB working groups and steering committees.<sup>22</sup>

In the remainder of this section, I illustrate how membership in the IASB's exclusive ISN has enabled Anglo-Saxon auditing firms to shape three of most important standards adopted by the IASB during the past decade: IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments*, IFRS 3 *Share-Based Payment*, and IFRS 2 *Business Combinations*.

#### 5.1. Financial instruments

Since its establishment, the vast majority of the IASB's work has been devoted to revising International Accounting Standards (IAS) inherited from the IASC. Perhaps the fiercest distributional battle over the revision of an existing standard concerned IAS 39, which dealt with the measurement and recognition of financial instruments. The first attempt to develop a standard governing financial instruments was made in the late 1990s. Under pressure to finalize a set of "core standards" in order to gain the endorsement of the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO), the IASC had hastily adopted an interim financial instruments were measured at fair value while others were measured at historical cost (IASC 1998).

To ensure that any long-term solution reflected its preferences for a full fair value approach, the G4+1 established an independent committee – the Joint Working Group of Standard Setters (JWG) – to develop a permanent version of IAS 39. Despite including a handful of standard-setters from continental Europe, the JWG was dominated by large accountancy firms: more than half of the JWG's 20 members – including both its chairman and project manager – were current or former employees of the Big Four.<sup>23</sup> As expected, the JWG's draft permanent standard, outlined in a lengthy report published in December 2000, permitted the "measurement of virtually all financial instruments at fair value" (JWG 2000, p.i).

Following the transition to the IASB in 2001, major accountancy firms had little difficulty ensuring that the JWG's draft standard became the basis for proposed revisions to IAS 39. Indeed, the IASB's official project manager for amendments to IAS 39 – Sandra Thompson, a former project director at the UK ASB – was herself a key contributor to the JWG's draft standard (JWG 2000, p.300). Furthermore, three of the JWG's most senior members – Tricia O'Malley, Tatsumi Yamada, and James Leisenring – were now members of the IASB. Most stakeholders only became aware that the IASB had adopted the JWG's suggestions following the publication of the first exposure draft for amendments to IAS 39 in June 2002.

The 337-page draft, which had taken officials more than a year to write, allowed entities "to measure any financial asset or financial liability at fair value" (IASB 2002a, p.130).

Unsurprisingly, the proposal encountered stiff resistance from continental European stakeholders – in particular banks – who had traditionally measured financial instruments at historical cost. The French Banking Federation (FBF), for instance, denounced the full fair value approach as "dangerous" and "self-defeating," predicting that it would result in "an increase, not economically justified, of the volatility of the balance sheet and profit and loss account, which produces inaccurate information in the financial statement" (FBF 2002, p.1). As opposition mounted, in July 2003 French president Jacques Chirac took the unprecedented step of writing to EC president Romano Prodi to warn him of the proposal's "nefarious consequences for financial stability" (Dombey et al. 2003). Yet even high-level political intervention could not alter the IASB's trajectory, and only minor changes were made to the original draft over the following two years. As the European Commissioner for Internal Market and Services later admitted, "The banks [in Europe]...engaged in discussion on the issue far too late" (Bolkestein 2004).<sup>24</sup> Unable to defend their interests in IASB negotiations, European banks persuaded the EC to "carve out" the full fair value option from the 2004 Commission Regulation translating IAS 39 into EU law – a move condemned by businesses for jeopardizing harmonization efforts (EC 2004). Under pressure to abolish the exception, one year later the EC adopted a slightly modified version of IAS 39 published by the IASB in 2005 that continued to allow fair value measurement in most circumstances (EC 2005).25

Controversy over IAS 39 was reignited during the global financial crisis, in which fair value accounting was widely regarded as having exacerbated illiquidity in securities markets. In March 2009, the G20 Working Group on Enhancing Sound Regulation and Strengthening Transparency emphasized the need to "dampen the adverse dynamics associated with fair value accounting," a message echoed in the G20 leaders' recommendation in April to "improve standards for the valuation of financial instruments" (G20 Working Group 1 2009, p.iii; G20 2009b, p.5). Yet one year earlier - in a discussion paper drafted in part by auditing firms - the IASB had already concluded that "[f]air value seems to be the only measure that is appropriate for all types of financial instruments" (IASB 2008, p.4).<sup>26</sup> Subsequent amendments to IAS 39 consequently contained no further restrictions on the use of fair value measurement.<sup>27</sup> To the contrary, the first part of IAS 39's successor standard IFRS 9, which was issued by the IASB in November 2009, expanded the application of fair value by requiring new types of embedded derivatives and financial liabilities to be valued at market prices (IASB 2009). EC officials, who were said to be "furious" that they had not been given due weight in negotiations, refused to endorse IFRS 9 until the remaining parts of the standard had been finalized.

#### 5.2. Share-based payment

Timely participation by accountancy firms played an equally important role in shaping the IASB's treatment of share-based payment transactions – that is, transactions in which payment takes the form of granted shares, share options, or share appreciation rights. Traditionally, few accounting systems provided guidance on such transactions, allowing businesses to keep expensive employee share plans out of their financial statements. In the

late 1990s, major auditing firms convened a working group under the auspices of the G4+1 to explore the possibility of harmonizing accounting rules on share-based payment. The working group was headed by two project directors at the UK ASB with close links to the auditing firms: Kimberley Crook, a secondee from the London branch of PwC; and Kathryn Cearns, a former employee of Ernst & Whinney (later Ernst & Young). The main conclusions of the working group, which were published in an IASC discussion paper in July 2000, were that (1) share-based payment transactions should be recognized in financial statements; and (2) the "appropriate measurement basis for such transactions is the fair value of the shares or options issued" (IASC 2000, p.7).

Following the release of the report, share-based payment quickly found its way to the top of the newly established IASB's agenda. In a now-familiar pattern, the IASB selected former PwC employee Kimberley Crook – the principal author of the G4+1 discussion paper – to lead its standardization project on share-based payment. Unsurprisingly, the lengthy exposure draft for the new standard, which was circulated for comment in November 2002 following several months of technical work, embraced both of Crook's earlier recommendations. As draft's introduction states, "The objective of [the draft standard] is to ensure that an entity recognizes all share-based payment transactions in its financial statements, measured at fair value, so as to provide high quality, transparency, and compatible information to users of financial instruments" (IASB 2002b, p.16).

While receiving strong support from large auditing firms, the exposure draft provoked a furious reaction from businesses across Europe (see PwC 2003). The European Financial Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG), a private-sector organization established in 2001 to provide advice to the EC on the technical quality of IFRS, emphasized the "great concern among our constituents that all share purchase plans would be automatically scoped in by the proposed standard," and argued that the blanket application of fair value to shared-based payment transactions was "too restrictive" (EFRAG 2003, pp.2-3). The European Employee Stock Options Coalition (EESOC) was even more critical, arguing that the draft "is inconsistent, technically flawed, leaves some important implementation questions unanswered and would, if adopted, impair the credibility of reported numbers by reducing comparability and introducing an opacity to the accounts" (EESOC 2003, p.1). As with IAS 39, however, these objections were submitted too late for the IASB to consider relinquishing its extensive earlier work on the proposal. In November 2004, the exposure draft was adopted virtually unchanged as IFRS 2 *Share-based Payment* (IASB 2004a).

#### 5.3. Business combinations

The development of global accounting rules governing business combinations (mergers and acquisitions) provides a further example of the success of auditing firms in obtaining their favored distributional outcomes by securing first-mover advantage in the standard-setting process. In the late 1970s, accountancy firms persuaded the IASC to establish a steering committee under the chairmanship of John Bishop, a partner in the Australian branch of Peat Marwick Mitchell (later KPMG), to assess the scope for reconciling national accounting rules on business combinations. These firms were particularly keen to rein in the use of the pooling-of-interests method of accounting for acquisitions, which requires that two businesses' assets and liabilities are combined at their book values following an

Page 19 of 30 The Distributional Consequences of International Finance: An Analysis of Regulatory Influence – Ranjit Lall © January 2014 / GEG WP 2014/90 acquisition.<sup>28</sup> Under their favored option – the purchase method – balance sheets are amalgamated at market values. The standard that emerged from the committee's deliberations in June 1983, IAS 22, clearly reflected preferences of accountancy firms: the purchase method was required for the vast majority of business combinations, with pooling-of-interests accounting allowed only in "rare circumstances" (IASC 1983).

Provision	Standard	Preference of first movers (Anglo-Saxon auditing firms)	Preference of second movers	Final rule (IFRS)
Financial instruments	IAS 39/IFRS 9	Measure all financial assets and liabilities at their fair value i.e., their current market prices	Maintain a historical cost option for all financial instruments	Instruments measured at fair value under almost all circumstances
Share-based payment	IFRS 2	Recognize share-based payment in financial statements; measure such transactions at their fair value	Exclude some share plans from financial statements; limit the application of fair value	All share plans recognized in financial statements and measured at fair value
Business Combinations	IAS 22/IFRS 3	Abolish the pooling-of- interests method; measure all business combinations at fair value (purchase method)	Maintain pooling-of- interests accounting; do not introduce purchase method	Pooling-of- interests method abolished and replaced by purchase method

Table 2. Regulatory preferences and distributional outcomes in the IASB

During the 1990s, businesses began to circumvent IAS 22's restrictions on the use of pooling-of-interests accounting, which typically "allowed a wide range for interpretation" (Camfferman & Zeff 2006, p.137). In the US, for instance, the share of mergers and acquisitions transactions recorded using the pooling-of-interests method soared from 2 percent in 1992 to 31 percent in 1998 (Boegler & Lewis 1998). In response, accountancy firms assembled a working group of senior accountants from G4+1 standard-setters to draft a comprehensive set of revisions for IAS 22. The working group's main recommendation for revising IAS 22, published in a G4+1 discussion paper in December 1998, was that the pooling-of-interests method should be eliminated entirely. All business combinations, in other words, should be accounted for using the purchase method (G4+1 1998).

In October 2002, as part of the so-called Norwalk Agreement to promote convergence between US GAAP and IFRS, the IASB embarked on a joint project with the FASB to develop a successor standard to IAS 22. The IASB-FASB exposure draft for the new standard (ED3), published in December 2002, incorporated the G4+1's recommendation almost word-for-word, proposing "to eliminate the use of the pooling-of-interests method and require all business combinations within its scope to be accounted for by applying the purchase method" (IASB 2002c, p.5). This move had been strongly advocated by the FASB, which had followed other G4+1 standard-setting bodies in abolishing pooling-of-interests accounting at the domestic level in June 2001. As *Financial Times* noted at the time, it was clear that companies in continental Europe, where the pooling-of-interests method was still widely used, would be "hardest hit" by the new rules (Smy 2002).

Once again, support for the retention of the pooling-of-interests method from European stakeholders was expressed only after the release of the IASB's exposure draft, a relatively late stage in the standardization process. The European Roundtable of Industrialists (ERT), which represents the interests of around 50 major European multinational companies, criticized the draft as "arbitrary" and "inappropriate," arguing that "the cost of acquisition has to be retained because it is the best way to measure the net assets acquired" (ERT 2003, pp.1-2). Mazars, a French accountancy firm, expressed a similar view, arguing that in the case of mergers between similarly sized companies "the purchase method [does not give] a true and fair view of the economic substance of the new entity resulting from the combination" (Mazars 2003, p.5). Other European stakeholders, such as the French bank BNP Paribas, missed the deadline for submitting comments altogether. Consequently, in March 2004 the exposure draft was adopted by the IASB with minimal changes as IFRS 3 *Business Combinations* (IASB 2004b).

#### 6. Conclusion

During the past three decades, the transnational regulatory space in finance has played host to some of the most intense distributional battles waged in any area of global governance. I have argued that issue-specific characteristics of international finance – most notably, its high degree of technical complexity – have played a critical role in shaping the outcome of these battles. By influencing access to regulators' ISNs, my TEN theory suggests, such characteristics have been instrumental in determining which stakeholders secure first-mover position and thus set the agenda in global financial rulemaking. Moreover, by giving rise to a dynamic of increasing returns, they have ensured that proposals made at an early stage of rulemaking are highly resistant to change at later stages, guaranteeing that first movers enjoy greater influence over international standards than second movers. A detailed process-tracing analysis of distributional conflicts waged within two major transnational regulatory regimes in finance – the BCBS and the IASB – has provided empirical evidence for the theory.

Given the importance of equitable financial rules for the health of the global economy, it is instructive to reflect on the implications of TEN theory for the design of transnational regulatory regimes in the financial sphere. The theory suggests at least four principles for designing regimes that are accountable to a wide range of financial stakeholders:

(1) Regimes should maintain a clear distance from the finance industry to prevent informal social links between officials and regulated interests from becoming too strong. Such a separation could be achieved by placing restrictions on the "revolving door" between rulemaking bodies and private institutions or actively seeking to expand the range of backgrounds from which officials are recruited (Carpenter & Moss 2013). Regimes should also limit the number of secondees, interns, and temporary staff they hire from the private sector.

- (2) Regimes should minimize information asymmetries regarding the regulatory agenda at each stage of the regulatory process. To this end, officials should conduct regular consultations with a broad range of public and private actors – akin to a process of "negotiated rulemaking" at the global level – and ensure that new initiatives are widely publicized (Auld *et al.* 2013). Such measures would help to bring about a more equitable distribution of regulatory capabilities among stakeholders.
- (3) Regimes should avoid delegating crucial regulatory functions to stakeholders. To safeguard officials' operational independence, standard-setting bodies must be given the financial resources and administrative support necessary to attract high-quality technical expertise and to conduct in-depth research into complex regulatory issues. Where delegation cannot be avoided, regimes should divide functions among several stakeholders to prevent narrow interests from monopolizing regulatory capabilities.
- (4) To mitigate the advantage gained by early entry into the regulatory space, regimes should be subject to robust oversight mechanisms. Regimes must be held to account both by the international bodies that have delegated authority to them and by national governments through domestic ratification. They should also introduce procedures to improve compliance with internal directives (similar to the World Bank Inspection Panel) and to allow stakeholders to question their success in terms of their own goals.

To be sure, translating these principles into concrete regulatory reforms is not a simple task. Each principle can be realized through several different design features, and it is only via a time-consuming process of institutional trial and error that we can assess which combination of features is most effective. In addition, reform efforts are likely to meet strong political opposition from actors profiting from the regulatory status quo, whether large international banks or Anglo-Saxon auditing firms. Yet the analysis presented in this study suggests that the benefits of enhancing the accountability, inclusiveness, and legitimacy of the regulatory regimes governing the global financial system would more than justify the costs.

#### **Notes**

<sup>1</sup> Rulemaking is itself just one of many stages that comprise the overall process of global regulation. Other stages include implementation, monitoring, and enforcement (Mattli & Woods 2009).

<sup>2</sup> Large set-up costs were first identified as a source of increasing returns by economic historians studying the spread of knowledge-intensive technologies (Arthur 1994; David 1994).

<sup>3</sup> Indeed, such regimes typically involve a distinct ratification phase in which governments consult with constituents about whether to endorse rules agreed during earlier negotiations. <sup>4</sup> The evidence presented in this section draws on the more detailed case studies in Lall (2012). <sup>5</sup> Co

Core Tier 1 capital mostly consists of equity; Tier 1 consists of Core Tier 1 plus disclosed reserves; Tier 2 capital consists of undisclosed reserves, loan-loss provisions and subordinated debt.

<sup>6</sup> Author's interview with Peter Cooke, former BCBS chairman, Oxford, November 2008.

<sup>7</sup> Author's interview with Oliver Page, former BCBS member, London, December 2008.

<sup>8</sup> Author's interview with Patricia Jackson, former BCBS member, London, December 2008.

<sup>9</sup> Author's interview with William McDonough, former BCBS chairman, Washington D.C., January 2009. <sup>10</sup> Author's interview with BCBS observer, Washington D.C. January 2009.

<sup>11</sup> Market risk is "the risk of losses in on- and off-balance-sheet positions arising from movements in market prices" (BCBS 2004a, p.157).

<sup>12</sup> VaR represents the probability that losses on a portfolio of assets will exceed a certain amount within a given time horizon, for example \$1 million over the next 10 days.

<sup>13</sup> Author's interview with BCBS member A (Bank of England), London, February 2010.

<sup>14</sup> Author's calculation using information in annual reports. All of the world's largest 10 banks had ratios of equity to risk-weighted assets (an even narrower Core Tier 1 ratio) of above nine percent in 2007.

<sup>15</sup> Author's interview with BCBS member A (Bank of England), London, February 2010.

<sup>16</sup> Author's interview with BCBS member B (Bank of England), London, February 2010.

<sup>17</sup> Despite traditionally conducting much of their business in the US, as of 2012 the Big Four derived the largest share of their global revenues - 43 percent on average - from Europe (Big4.com 2013, p.2).

<sup>18</sup> According to recent IMF data, the value of bonds, equities, and bank assets is almost \$20 trillion higher in the EU than in the US (IMF 2012, Appendix p.11).

<sup>19</sup> The Big Six became the Big Four following the merger of Coopers & Lybrand with Price Waterhouse to form PwC in 1998 and the collapse of Arthur Andersen in the wake of the Enron scandal in 2002.

<sup>20</sup> These discussions are also an important source of information about the IASB's agenda for auditing firms. As one partner of a Big Four firm revealed: "Although the IASB eventually publishes its agenda, we usually learn about new standardization projects in advance through private discussions with board members and staff." Author's interview with Deloitte partner, London, August 2012. <sup>21</sup> Author's interview with KPMG partner A, London, August 2012.

<sup>22</sup> Author's interview with KPMG partner B, London, August 2012.

<sup>23</sup> Interestingly, a further two members – Patricia Stebbens and Shigeo Ogi – would be made partners at the Big Four shortly after the JWG's disbandment.

<sup>24</sup> Representatives of EU member states, such as the German state secretary for economics Caio Koch-Weser, also lamented that Chirac's intervention came "too late" to alter the IASB's decision (Dombey 2003).

<sup>25</sup> Specifically, it allows firms to use fair value when there is an "accounting mismatch" between the measurement of assets and liabilities and when financial instruments are managed in accordance with a documented risk management strategy (IASB 2005).
<sup>26</sup> Author's interview with KPMG partner A, London, August 2012.

<sup>27</sup> In October 2008, however, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 39 allowing firms to temporarily reclassify instruments out of the fair value category in "rare circumstances" such as the ongoing turmoil (IASB 2008, p.5).

<sup>28</sup> The book value of an asset is its historical cost minus any depreciation, amortization, or impairment costs made against it.

#### References

Abbott KW, Snidal D (2009) The Governance Triangle: Regulatory Standards Institutions and the Shadow of the State. In: Mattli W, Woods N (eds) *The Politics of Global Regulation*, pp. 44-88. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.

Admati AR, Hellwig M (2013) *The Bankers' New Clothes: What's Wrong with Banking and what to Do about it.* Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.

America's Community Bankers (2001) *Submission to the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision*. <www.bis.org/bcbs/ca/amcobare.pdf>; (accessed 12 November 2010).

Auld G, Renckens S, Cashore B (2013) Transnational private governance between the logics of empowerment and control. Manuscript prepared for submission to *Regulation & Governance*.

Bach D, Newman AL (2007). The European regulatory state and global public policy: microinstitutions, macro-influence. *Journal of European Public Policy* 14 (6), 827-846.

Banking Council of South Africa (2001) *South African Banks' Response to BIS.* <a href="http://www.bis.org/bcbs/ca/thbacosoaf.pdf">http://www.bis.org/bcbs/ca/thbacosoaf.pdf</a>; (accessed 12 November 2010).

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (1988) *International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards*. Bank for International Settlements: Basel.

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (1995) *Proposal to Issue a Supplement to the Basel Capital Accord to Cover Market Risks*. Bank for International Settlements: Basel.

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (2006) *Results of the Fifth Quantitative Impact Study (QIS-5)*. Bank for International Settlements: Basel.

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (2009) *Strengthening the Resilience of the Banking Sector*. Bank for International Settlements: Basel.

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (2010a) *Annex.* Bank for International Settlements: Basel.

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (2010b) *Group of Governors and Heads of Supervision Announces Higher Global Minimum Capital Standards*. Press Release, September.

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (2011) *Measures for Global Systemically Important Banks Agreed by the Group of Governors and Heads of Supervision.* Press Release. 25 June.

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, Financial Stability Board (2010) Assessing the *Macroeconomic Impact of the Transition to Stronger Capital and Liquidity Requirements*. Interim Report, August.

Beattie A, Braithwaite T, Chaffin J (2010) Call for new global currencies deal. *Financial* Times, October 4.

Big4.com (2013) The 2012 Big Four Firms Performance Analysis. <http://ww1.prweb.com/prfiles/2013/01/09/10318618/The%202012%20Big%20Four%20Firm s%20Performance%20Analysis.pdf>; accessed 8 June 2013.

Boegel D, Lewis W (1998) FASB may outlaw pooling of interest, *Financial Times*, April 28.

Bolkestein F (2004) End the carping over accounting standards. *Financial Times*, 9 November.

Braithwaite, J. (2005). Neoliberalism or regulatory capitalism. Regulatory Institutions Network Occasional Paper 5.

Büthe T, Mattli W (2011) *The New Global Rulers: The Privatization of Regulation in the World Economy*. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.

Cafaggi F, Pistor K (2013) Regulatory capabilities: A normative framework for assessing the distributional effects of regulation. Manuscript prepared for submission to *Regulation & Governance*.

Callan E, Wighton D, Guha K. (2007) Regulators Urged to Take Back Seat. *Financial Times*, 21 October.

Camfferman K, Zeff SA (2006) *Financial Reporting and Global Capital Markets: A History of the International Accounting Standards Committee, 1973-2000.* Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Carpenter D, Moss D (2013) *Preventing Regulatory Capture: Special Interest Influence and How to Limit it.* Cambridge University Press.

Chaffin J, Pretzlik C (2003) Fed Seeks to Safeguard Basel Bank Reforms. *Financial Times*, 3 December.

Collier RB, Collier D (1991) Shaping the Political Arena: Critical Junctures, the Labor Movement, and Regime Dynamics in Latin America. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.

De Larosière Group (2009) *The High-Level Group on Financial Supervision in the EU.* (Report) Brussels.

Dombey D (2003) France isolated on IAS concerns. Financial Times, 16 July.

Dombey D, Parker A, Wassener B (2003) IASB 'to stand firm' following French attack. *Financial Times*, 12 July.

Drezner D (2007) *All Politics is Global: Explaining International Regulatory Regimes.* Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.

European Banking Federation (2002) *FBE Observations on the Exposure Draft of Proposed Amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 39 on Financial Instruments*. Brussels.

European Commission (2004) Commission Regulation No. 2086/2004. Brussels.

European Commission (2005) Commission Regulation No. 1864/2005. Brussels.

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group (2003) *Re: Ed 2 Share-Based Payment*. Brussels.

European Employee Stock Options Coalition (2003) *Re: Invitation to Comment on Exposure Draft ED2 – Share-Based Payment.* Brussels.

European Roundtable of Industrialists (2003) Business Combinations. Brussels.

Farrell H, Newman A (2010) Making Global Markets: Historical Institutionalism in International Political Economy. *Review of International Political Economy* 17(4), 609-638.

Farrell H, Newman A (forthcoming) Domestic Institutions beyond the Nation State: Charting the New Interdependence Approach. *World Politics*.

Fioretos O (2010) Capitalist Diversity and the International Regulation of Hedge Funds. *Review of International Political Economy* 17(4), 696-723.

French Banking Federation (2002) *Re: Exposure draft of proposed amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 39 Financial Instruments.* October 21, Paris.

George A, Bennett A (2005) *Case Studies and Theory Development in the Social Sciences*. MIT Press, Cambridge MA & London UK.

Graham G (1999) Scientific certainties have taken a beating. *Financial Times*, 29 January.

Griffith-Jones S, Persaud A (2008) The Pro-cyclical Impact of Basle II on Emerging Markets and its Political Economy. In: Stiglitz J, Ocampo JA (eds) *Capital Market Liberalization and Development*, pp.262-287. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Group of Four Plus One (1998) *Methods of Accounting for Business Combinations: Recommendations of the G4+1 for Achieving Convergence*. Financial Accounting Standards Board: Norwalk, Connecticut.

Group of Twenty (2009a) Declaration on Strengthening the Financial System, London Summit, 2 April 2009.

Group of Twenty (2009b) *Leaders' Statement, The Pittsburgh Summit, 24–25 September.* <a href="http://www.g20.org/Documents/pittsburgh summit leaders statement 250909.pdf">http://www.g20.org/Documents/pittsburgh summit leaders statement 250909.pdf</a>; (accessed 16 November 2010).

Group of Twenty Working Group 1 (2009) Enhancing Sound Regulation and Strengthening Transparency: Final Report. 25 March.

Hallström KT (2004) Organizing international standardization: ISO and the IASC in quest of authority. Edward Elgar Publishing.

Ibison, D (2000) IIF Outlines Banks' Worries over Basel Accord Reform. *Financial Times*, 13 April.

Independent Community Bankers of America (2010) *Submission to the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision*.

Institute of International Finance (1997) *Report of the Working Group on Capital Adequacy: Recommendations for Revising the Regulatory Capital Rules for Credit Risk.* Washington DC.

Institute of International Finance (1993) *Report of the Working Group on Capital Adequacy*. Washington D.C.

Institute of International Finance, International Swaps and Derivatives Association (2000) Modeling Credit Risk: Joint IIF/ISDA Testing Program. Washington DC.

Institute of International Finance (2001) *Report of the IIF Steering Committee on Regulatory Capital.* <a href="http://www.bis.org/bcbs/ca/iistctonreca.pdf">http://www.bis.org/bcbs/ca/iistctonreca.pdf</a>; (accessed 12 November 2010).

Institute of International Finance (2009) *Policy Letter to the G20*. September, <a href="http://www.iif.com/emp/policyltrs/">http://www.iif.com/emp/policyltrs/</a>; (accessed 12 November 2010).

Institute of International Finance (2010) *Interim Report on the Cumulative Impact on the Global Economy of Proposed Changes in the Banking Regulatory Framework*. Washington DC.

International Accounting Standards Board (2002a) *Exposure Draft of Proposed Amendments* to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation; IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. London, UK.

International Accounting Standards Board (2002b) *Basis for Conclusions on Exposure Draft: ED2 Share-Based Payment.* London, UK.

International Accounting Standards Board (2002c) *Exposure Draft Business Combinations*. London, UK.

International Accounting Standards Board (2004a) *IFRS 2 Share-based Payment*. London, UK.

International Accounting Standards Board (2004b) *IFRS 3 Business Combinations*. London, UK.

International Accounting Standards Board (2008) *Reclassification of Financial Assets: Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial Instrument: Disclosures.* London, UK.

International Accounting Standards Board (2009) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. London, UK.

International Accounting Standards Committee (1998) IAS 39 *Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.* London, UK.

International Accounting Standards Committee (2000) *G4+1 Position Paper: Accounting for Share-Based Payment.* London, UK.

International Accounting Standards Committee (1983) *IAS 22 Accounting for Business Combinations*. London, UK.

International Monetary Fund (1998) *World Economic Outlook and International Capital Markets: Interim Assessment.* Washington DC.

International Monetary Fund (2012) *Global Financial Stability Report: Statistical Appendix.* October 2012. Washington DC.

Joint Working Group of Standard Setters (2000) *Financial Instruments and Similar Items*. International Accounting Standards Committee: London, UK.

JP Morgan (2010) *Too Big to Fail? Running the Numbers.* JPMorgan Global Research, February 17.

Lall R (2012) From failure to failure: The politics of international banking regulation. *Review of International Political Economy* 19:4, 609-638.

Mazars (2003) *Exposure Drafts on Business Combinations and Amendments to IAS 36 and 38.* Paris.

Miles D, Yang J, Marcheggiano G (2011) *Optimal Bank Capital*. External MPC Unit Discussion Paper No. 31, January.

Nesvetailova A, Palan R (2010) The end of liberal finance? The changing paradigm of global financial governance. *Millennium-Journal of International Studies* 38(3), 797-825.

Perry J, Nölke A (2006) The Political Economy of International Accounting Standards. *Review of International Political Economy* 13 (4), 559-586.

Pierson P (2000) Increasing Returns, Path Dependence, and the State of Politics. *American Political Science Review* 94, 251-267.

Pierson P, Skocpol T (2002) Historical Institutionalism in Contemporary Political Science. In: Katznelson I, Milner H (eds) *Political Science: State of the Discipline*, pp.693-721. W.W. Norton, New York.

Porter T (forthcoming) Technical systems and the architecture of transnational business governance interactions. *Regulation & Governance*.

Porter T (2003) Technical collaboration and political conflict in the emerging regime for international financial regulation. *Review of International Political Economy*, 10(3), 520-551.

Posner E (2010) Sequence as Explanation: The International Politics of Accounting Standards. *Review of International Political Economy*, 17(4), 639-664.

PricewaterhouseCoopers (2003) Exposure Draft ED 2 Share-Based Payment. London.

Raustiala K (2002) The Architecture of International Cooperation: Transgovernmental Networks and the Future of International Law, *Virginia Journal of International Law* 43, 1-51.

Simmons B (2001) International Politics of Harmonization: The Case of Capital Market Regulation, *International Organization* 55, 589-620.

Slaughter A (2005) A New World Order. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.

Smy L (2002) IASB proposal for mergers will hit Europe. *Financial Times*, 5 December.

Soederberg S (2004) The politics of the new international financial architecture: Reimposing neoliberal domination in the global south. Zed Books.

Street DL (2006) The G4's role in the evolution of the international accounting standard setting process and partnership with the IASB. *Journal of International Accounting, Auditing and Taxation*, Volume 15, Issue 1, 109-112.

Thal Larsen P (2006) Basel II Best for Biggest in Banks' View. Financial Times, 10 April.

Underhill GRD, Zhang X (2008) Setting the rules: private power, political underpinnings, and legitimacy in global monetary and financial governance. *International Affairs* 84: 3, May 2008, 535-554.

Wood D (2005) *Governing Global Banking: The Basel Committee and the Politics of Financial Globalization*, Ashgate, Aldershot.

World Council of Credit Unions (2010) *Re: Consultative Document on Strengthening the Resilience of the Banking Sector*. <a href="http://www.bis.org/publ/bcbs165/wcocuc.pdf">http://www.bis.org/publ/bcbs165/wcocuc.pdf</a>; (accessed 12 November 2010).

# Working Papers

# The following GEG Working Papers can be downloaded at www.globaleconomicgovernance.org/working-papers

Ranjit Lall WP 2014/90 The Distributional Consequences of International Finance: An Analysis of Regulatory Influence WP 2014/89 Global Economic Governance Ngaire Woods after the 2008 Crisis WP 2013/88 The India-Brazil-South Africa Forum - A Decade On: Mismatched Folashadé Soule-Kohndou Partners or the Rise of the South? Nilima Gulrajani WP 2013/87 An Analytical Framework for Improving Aid Effectiveness Policies Rahul Prabhakar WP 2013/86 Varieties of Regulation: How States Pursue and Set International **Financial Standards** Alexander Kupatadze WP 2013/85 Moving away from corrupt equilibrium: 'big bang' push factors and progress maintenance George Gray Molina WP 2013/84 Global Governance Exit: A Bolivian Case Study Steven L. Schwarcz WP 2013/83 Shadow Banking, Financial Risk, and Regulation in China and Other **Developing Countries** WP 2013/82 China, Corporate Responsibility and the Contentious Politics of Pichamon Yeophantong Hydropower Development: transnational activism in the Mekong region? Pichamon Yeophantong WP 2013/81 China and the Politics of Hydropower Development: governing water and contesting responsibilities in the Mekong River Basin Rachael Burke and Devi Sridhar WP 2013/80 Health financing in Ghana, South Africa and Nigeria: Are they meeting the Abuia target? Dima Noggo Sarbo WP 2013/79 The Ethiopia-Eritrea Conflict: Domestic and Regional Ramifications and the Role of the International Community Dima Noggo Sarbo WP 2013/78 Reconceptualizing Regional Integration in Africa: The European Model and Africa's Priorities Abdourahmane Idrissa WP 2013/77 Divided Commitment: UEMOA, the Franc Zone, and ECOWAS Abdourahmane Idrissa WP 2013/76 Out of the Penkelemes: The ECOWAS Project as Transformation Pooja Sharma WP 2013/75 Role of Rules and Relations in Global Trade Governance Le Thanh Forsberg WP 2013/74 The Political Economy of Health Care Commercialization in Vietnam WP 2013/73 Enterprise Hegemony and Embedded Hierarchy Network: The Political Hongsheng Ren Economy and Process of Global Compact Governance in China Devi Sridhar and Ngaire Woods WP2013/72 'Trojan Multilateralism: Global Cooperation in Health' Valéria Guimarães de Lima e Silva WP2012/71 'International Regime Complexity and Enhanced Enforcement of Intellectual Property Rights: The Use of Networks at the Multilateral Level' Ousseni Illy WP2012/70 'Trade Remedies in Africa: Experience, Challenges and Prospects' Carolyn Deere Birckbeck and Emily WP2012/69 'Beyond the Eighth Ministerial Conference of the WTO: A Forward Looking Agenda for Development' Jones Devi Sridhar and Kate Smolina WP2012/68' Motives behind national and regional approaches to health and foreign policy WP2011/67 'Accountability in Faith-Based Organizations in Nigeria: Preliminary Omobolaji Olarinmoye Explorations' Ngaire Woods WP2011/66 'Rethinking Aid Coordination' WP2011/65 'Buying Better Governance: The Political Economy of Budget Reforms in Paolo de Renzio Aid-Dependent Countries' WP2011/64 'Development-oriented Perspectives on Global Trade Governance: A Carolyn Deere Birckbeck Summary of Proposals for Making Global Trade Governance Work for Development'

Carolyn Deere Birckbeck and Meg Harbourd	WP2011/63 'Developing Country Coalitions in the WTO: Strategies for Improving the Influence of the WTO's Weakest and Poorest Members'	
Leany Lemos	WP 2011/62 'Determinants of Oversight in a Reactive Legislature: The Case of Brazil, 1988 – 2005'	
Valéria Guimarães de Lima e Silva	WP 2011/61 'Sham Litigation in the Pharmaceutical Sector'.	
Michele de Nevers	WP 2011/60 'Climate Finance - Mobilizing Private Investment to Transform Development.'	
Ngaire Woods	WP 2010/59 ' The G20 Leaders and Global Governance'	
Leany Lemos	WP 2010/58 'Brazilian Congress and Foreign Affairs: Abdication or Delegation?'	
Leany Lemos & Rosara Jospeh	WP 2010/57 'Parliamentarians' Expenses Recent Reforms: a briefing on Australia, Canada, United Kingdom and Brazil'	
Nilima Gulrajani	WP 2010/56 'Challenging Global Accountability: The Intersection of Contracts and Culture in the World Bank'	
Devi Sridhar & Eduardo Gómez	WP 2009/55 'Comparative Assessment of Health Financing in Brazil, Russia and India: Unpacking Budgetary Allocations in Health'	
Ngaire Woods	WP 2009/54 'Global Governance after the Financial Crisis: A new multilateralism or the last gasp of the great powers?	
Arunabha Ghosh and Kevin Watkins	WP 2009/53 'Avoiding dangerous climate change – why financing for technology transfer matters'	
Ranjit Lall	WP 2009/52 'Why Basel II Failed and Why Any Basel III is Doomed'	
Arunabha Ghosh and Ngaire Woods	WP 2009/51 'Governing Climate Change: Lessons from other Governance Regimes'	
Carolyn Deere - Birkbeck	WP 2009/50 'Reinvigorating Debate on WTO Reform: The Contours of a Functional and Normative Approach to Analyzing the WTO System'	
Matthew Stilwell	WP 2009/49 'Improving Institutional Coherence: Managing Interplay Between Trade and Climate Change'	
Carolyn Deere	WP 2009/48 'La mise en application de l'Accord sur les ADPIC en Afrique francophone'	
Hunter Nottage	WP 2009/47 'Developing Countries in the WTO Dispute Settlement System'	
Ngaire Woods	WP 2008/46 'Governing the Global Economy: Strengthening Multilateral Institutions' (Chinese version)	
Nilima Gulrajani	WP 2008/45 'Making Global Accountability Street-Smart: Re-conceptualizing Dilemmas and Explaining Dynamics'	
Alexander Betts	WP 2008/44 'International Cooperation in the Global Refugee Regime'	
Alexander Betts	WP 2008/43 'Global Migration Governance'	
Alastair Fraser and Lindsay Whitfield	WP 2008/42 'The Politics of Aid: African Strategies for Dealing with Donors'	
Isaline Bergamaschi	WP 2008/41 'Mali: Patterns and Limits of Donor-Driven Ownership'	
Arunabha Ghosh	WP 2008/40 'Information Gaps, Information Systems, and the WTO's Trade Policy Review Mechanism'	
Devi Sridhar and Rajaie Batniji	WP 2008/39 'Misfinancing Global Health: The Case for Transparency in Disbursements and Decision-Making'	
W. Max Corden, Brett House and David Vines	WP 2008/38 'The International Monetary Fund: Retrospect and Prospect in a Time of Reform'	
Domenico Lombardi	WP 2008/37 'The Corporate Governance of the World Bank Group'	
Ngaire Woods	WP 2007/36 'The Shifting Politics of Foreign Aid'	
Devi Sridhar and Rajaie Batniji	WP 2007/35 'Misfinancing Global Health: The Case for Transparency in Disbursements and Decision-Making'	
Louis W. Pauly	WP 2007/34 'Political Authority and Global Finance: Crisis Prevention in Europe and Beyond'	
Mayur Patel	WP 2007/33 'New Faces in the Green Room: Developing Country Coalitions and Decision Making in the WTO'	
Lindsay Whitfield and Emily Jones	WP 2007/32 'Ghana: Economic Policymaking and the Politics of Aid Dependence' (revised October 2007)	
Isaline Bergamaschi	WP 2007/31 'Mali: Patterns and Limits of Donor-driven Ownership'	

Alastair Fraser	WP 2007/30 'Zambia: Back to the Future?'
Graham Harrison and Sarah Mulley	WP 2007/29 'Tanzania: A Genuine Case of Recipient Leadership in the Aid System
Xavier Furtado and W. James Smith	WP 2007/28 'Ethiopia: Aid, Ownership, and Sovereignty'
Clare Lockhart	WP 2007/27 'The Aid Relationship in Afghanistan: Struggling for Government Leadership'
Rachel Hayman	WP 2007/26 "Milking the Cow": Negotiating Ownership of Aid and Policy in Rwanda
Paolo de Renzio and Joseph Hanlon	WP 2007/25 'Contested Sovereignty in Mozambique: The Dilemmas of Aid Dependence'
Lindsay Whitfield	WP 2006/24 'Aid's Political Consequences: the Embedded Aid System in Ghana'
Alastair Fraser	WP 2006/23 'Aid-Recipient Sovereignty in Global Governance'
David Williams	WP 2006/22 "Ownership," Sovereignty and Global Governance'
Paolo de Renzio and Sarah Mulley	WP 2006/21 'Donor Coordination and Good Governance: Donor-led and Recipient- led Approaches'
Andrew Eggers, Ann Florini, and Ngaire Woods	WP 2005/20 'Democratizing the IMF'
Ngaire Woods and Research Team	WP 2005/19 'Reconciling Effective Aid and Global Security: Implications for the Emerging International Development Architecture'
Sue Unsworth	WP 2005/18 'Focusing Aid on Good Governance'
Ngaire Woods and Domenico Lombardi	WP 2005/17 'Effective Representation and the Role of Coalitions Within the IMF'
Dara O'Rourke	WP 2005/16 'Locally Accountable Good Governance: Strengthening Non- Governmental Systems of Labour Regulation'.
John Braithwaite	WP 2005/15 'Responsive Regulation and Developing Economics'.
David Graham and Ngaire Woods	WP 2005/14 'Making Corporate Self-Regulation Effective in Developing Countries'.
Sandra Polaski	WP 2004/13 'Combining Global and Local Force: The Case of Labour Rights in Cambodia'
Michael Lenox	WP 2004/12 'The Prospects for Industry Self-Regulation of Environmental Externalities'
Robert Repetto	WP 2004/11 'Protecting Investors and the Environment through Financial Disclosure
Bronwen Morgan	WP 2004/10 'Global Business, Local Constraints: The Case of Water in South Africa
Andrew Walker	WP 2004/09 'When do Governments Implement Voluntary Codes and Standards? The Experience of Financial Standards and Codes in East Asia'
Jomo K.S.	WP 2004/08 'Malaysia's Pathway through Financial Crisis'
Cyrus Rustomjee	WP 2004/07 'South Africa's Pathway through Financial Crisis'
Arunabha Ghosh	WP 2004/06 'India's Pathway through Financial Crisis'
Calum Miller	WP 2004/05 'Turkey's Pathway through Financial Crisis'
Alexander Zaslavsky and Ngaire Woods	WP 2004/04 'Russia's Pathway through Financial Crisis'
Leonardo Martinez-Diaz	WP 2004/03 'Indonesia's Pathway through Financial Crisis'

The Global Economic Governance Programme was established in 2003 to foster research and debate into how global markets and institutions can better serve the needs of people in developing countries. The program is co-hosted by University College and the Blavatnik School of Government.

The three core objectives of the Programme are:

- to conduct and foster research into international organizations and markets as well as new publicprivate governance regimes
- to create and develop a network of scholars and policy-makers working on these issues
- to influence debate and policy in both the public and the private sector in developed and developing countries





## www.globaleconomicgovernance.org